Spin-off and Take-over Agreement

Notarial Instrument Number	1000
for 2009	-ID-

Executed in B o n n on September 3, 2009

in the business offices of Deutsche Telekom AG, where the Notary Public was present at the request of the Board of Management of the Company.

Before the Notary Public Dr. Ingrid Doyé of Kattenbug 2, 50667 Cologne

the following persons appeared:

- a) Dr. Manfred B a l z, member of the Board of Management, Date of birth December 22, 1944, residing in Berlin
 - b) Mr. Guido K e r k h o f f, member of the Board of Management Date of birth November 22, 1967, residing in Bonn
 Both with business offices at Friedrich-Ebert-Allee 140, 53113 Bonn, and both acting here as members of the Board of Management authorized jointly to represent the company **Deutsche Telekom AG** with registered offices in Bonn, which is listed in the Commercial Register of the Bonn Local Court under HRB 6794,
- a) Mr. Thomas D a n n e n f e l d t , Managing Director, Date of birth September 13, 1966, residing in St. Augustin,
 - b) Mr. Albert H e n n, Managing Director, Date of birth April 24, 1968, residing in Linz,
 Both with business offices at Friedrich-Ebert-Allee 140, 53113 Bonn, and both acting here as Managing Directors authorized jointly to represent the company T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH with registered offices in Bonn, which is listed in the Commercial Register of the Bonn Local Court under HRB 5919,

The Parties Appearing listed under 1. are personally known to the Notary Public.

The Parties Appearing listed under 2. identified themselves by showing their personal identification cards.

The Parties Appearing, acting as indicated, declared:

In this document, we conclude a Spin-off and Take-over Agreement by and between Deutsche Telekom AG with registered offices in Bonn as the transferring legal entity and T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH with registered offices in Bonn as the receiving legal entity.

The following documents governing the Spin-off were established in advance by the Notary Public using documents dated August 26, 2009, Notarial Instrument No. 895/2009–ID and Notarial Instrument No. 896/2009–ID:

Notarial Instrument 895/2009 - ID

Annex 3.1 (a)	Pro forma balance sheet of the Spin-off Assets and
Annow 2.1 (a)	Liabilities as at July 1, 2009
Annex 3.1 (e)	Contract numbers from the "Integrated Treasury
	System" (ITS) of agreements giving rise to liabilities of Deutsche Telekom AG which T-
	Mobile Deutschland GmbH undertakes to fulfill on
	the basis of an internal relationship with Deutsche
	Telekom AG as of the Effective Spin-off date
Annex 3.2 (b) (i)	Self-produced and third party-produced network-
Annex 5.2 (0) (1)	specific software
Annex 3.2 (b) (iii) (X)	Further definition of the value-added network
	services
Annex 3.2 (b) (iii) (Y)	Self-produced and third party-produced software
	that is specific for the service production of the
	value-added network services
Annex 3.2 (b) (iv)	Non-specific software supporting business
	processes
Annex 3.2 (e) (i)	Customers from the national line-based products
	business
Annex 3.2 (e) (ii)	Customers from the non-line-based products
	business
Annex 3.2 (e) (iv) (X)	Customers from the "Business Customers"
	business unit ("DT GK")

Notarial Instrument 896/2009 - ID

Annex 3.2 (e) (iv) (Y)	Customers relating to the AGB network business,
	which are also customers of T-Systems Enterprise
	Services GmbH with its registered offices in
	Frankfurt am Main

Π

Annex 3.2 (e) (iv) (Z)	Item and service numbers (AL numbers) concerning the provision of services that define the AGB business,
Annex 3.2 (f) (ii)	Software whose rights do not form part of the Spin- off Assets and Liabilities,
Annex 3.3 (b) (ii)	Main distribution frames that form part of the Spin- off Assets and Liabilities
Annex 3.3 (b) (viii)	Technical systems and machinery attributable to the "Telekom Global Network" ("TGN"),
Annex 3.3 (b) (ix)	Technical systems and machinery attributable to the "Products & Innovation" area ("P&I"),
Annex 3.3 (f)	Fixed network components defined according to system classes and so-called network periphery

Furthermore, the following additional documents governing the Spin-off were established in advance by the Notary Public Dr. Christoph Neuhaus in Cologne, using documents dated August 26, 2009, Notarial Instrument No. 1185/2009–CN and Notarial Instrument No. 1186/2009–CN:

Notarial Instrument 1185/2009-CN

Annex 3.4 Limited personal easements and rights recorded in the land register in favor of Deutsche Telekom AG or one of its legal predecessors and real estate and buildings encumbered therewith and forming part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities.

Notarial Instrument 1186/2009-CN

Annex 3.5	Companies in which Deutsche Telekom AG holds shares and equity investments that form part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities
Annex 3.6 (b)	Accounts whose bank and account contracts form part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities
Annex 3.8 (a)	Non-civil servants transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland with benefits from the company pension plan,
Annex 3.9 (e) (i)	Purchase agreements with group-external third parties forming part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities
Annex 3.9 (e) (ii)	Purchase agreements with affiliated companies forming part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities
Annex 3.9 (e) (iii)	Sport marketing agreements forming part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities

Ш

Annex 3.9 (e) (iv)	Agreements concerning rights for linear transmission of
	film and television products forming part of the Spin-off
	Assets and Liabilities
Annex 3.9 (h)	Court or other administrative proceedings relating to
	items forming part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities
	or the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area
Annex 3.9 (j) (v)	Purchase agreements with group-external third parties
	not forming part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities
Annex 3.9 (j) (vi)	Purchase agreements with affiliated companies not
	forming part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities
Annex 4.6 (d)	Claims to recording of a limited personal easement
	secured by a priority notice
Annex 4.7 (e) (i)	Real estate and buildings with respect to which Deutsche
	Telekom AG agrees to create a limited personal
	easement in favor of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH
	concerning the right to use the real estate and buildings
	for the operation of main distribution frames
Annex 4.7 (d) (ii)	Template for the contents of a limited personal easement
Annex 6.2 (a)	Employment contracts attributable to the newly defined
	T-HOME Business Area

Reference is hereby made to these written records, Notarial Instrument No. 895/2009–ID and Notarial Instrument No. 896/2009–ID of the officiating Notary Public, and Notarial Instruments Nos. 1185/2009–CN and 1186/2009–CN of the Notary Public Dr. Christoph Neuhaus in Cologne (other minutes); the provisions of the other written records shall also be a component of the agreement concluded herewith.

The Parties had the original copies of the other written records at the notarization; the Parties each received or were handed a certified copy of the other written records in a timely manner prior to the notarization.

The Parties declared that the content of the other written records was known to them and that they waived the reading aloud of these documents. They stated furthermore that they also waived the inclusion of the other written records in this record of the current day.

The Notary Public instructed the Parties regarding the significance of the reference to the other written records.

Insofar as reference is made in the following to Annexes included with the (Spin-off and Take-over) Agreement, this refers to the individual annexes

IV

included with corresponding numbering in the aforementioned documents referred to, that is, Notarial Instrument No. 895/2009–ID and Notarial Instrument No. 896/2009–ID of the officiating Notary Public and Notarial Instrument No. 1185/2009–CN and Notarial Instrument No. 1186/2009–CN of the Notary Public Dr. Christoph Neuhaus in Cologne.

Then, the Parties Appearing further declared:

The companies represented by us conclude the following

Spin-off and Take-over Agreement

September 3, 2009

between

Deutsche Telekom AG, Bonn,

as transferring legal entity

and

T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH, Bonn,

as receiving legal entity

This document is a convenience translation of the German original. In case of discrepancy between the English and German versions, the German version shall prevail.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section

Page

	Describe		
1.		9	
2.		provisions	
	2.1	Spin-off by means of acquisition	4
	2.2	Closing Balance Sheet, Effective Spin-off Date, effective transfer date for	
		tax purposes	4
3.	Spin-off A	Assets and Liabilities	4
	3.1	Subject matter of the Spin-off	4
	3.2	Intangible fixed assets	6
	3.3	Property, plant and equipment	
	3.4	Limited personal easements and other rights recorded in the land	
		register	11
	3.5	Shares in affiliated companies and other equity investments	12
	3.6	Current assets	
	3.7	Liabilities and obligations, risks and charges	
	3.8	Liabilities under occupational pensions, partial early retirement	
	5.0	arrangements, and long-term time accounts	14
	3.9	Agreements and other legal relations.	
	3.10		
	0.10	Additions and disposals prior to the Execution Date	
	3.11	Retention of title, expectancies and recovery claims	
4.		s of transfer	
	4.1	Spin-off execution, Execution Date	
	4.2	Obstacles to transfer, catch-all clause, duties of cooperation	
	4.3	General duties of cooperation	21
	4.4	Assets that cannot be assigned to a single party (multi-use assets),	
		retransfer obligation	
	4.5	Creditor protection and internal settlement, indemnity	21
	4.6	Special aspects of easements and other rights recorded in the land	
		register	22
	4.7	Special aspects regarding main distribution frames	22
	4.8	Future intragroup delivery and service relationships	
5.	Consider	ation	
	5.1	Grant of a share in T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH	
	5.2	Special rights and benefits	
6.	Consequ	ences of the Spin-off for the employees and employee representatives	
0.	6.1	General	
	6.2	Transfer of employment contracts.	
	6.3	Transfer of operational units and parts thereof	
	6.4	Collective agreements and works agreements	
	6.5	Liability	
	6.6		
	0.0	Notice of termination and protection against compulsory redundancies	07
		laid down in the collective agreement	
	6.7	Planned measures	
_	6.8	Employee representatives	
7.		ant employment relationships	
	7.1	Consequences of the Spin-off for civil servants	
	7.2	Regulations governing temporary leave and assignment	
8.	Miscellan	neous	30

8.1	Change of Effective Date	30
8.2	Applicable law, forum	30
8.3	Costs and taxes	30
8.4	Severability clause	31
8.5	Entry into effect, filing for recording in the commercial register	31
8.6	Annexes	31

Section Short name 3.1 (a) Pro forma balance sheet of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities per July 1, 2009 3.1 (e) Contract numbers of agreements giving rise to liabilities of Deutsche Telekom AG which T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH undertakes to fulfill on the basis of an internal relationship with Deutsche Telekom AG as of the Effective Spin-off. 3.2 (b) (i) Self-produced and third party-produced network-specific software 3.2 (b) (iii) (X) Further definition of the value-added network services 3.2 (b) (iii) (Y) Self-produced and third party-produced software that is specific for the service production of the value-added network services 3.2 (b) (iv) Non-specific software supporting business processes 3.2 (e) (i) Customers from the national line-based products business 3.2 (e) (ii) Customers from the non-line-based products business 3.2 (e) (iv) (X) Customers from the "Business Customers" business unit ("DT GK") Customers relating to the AGB network business, which are also customers of T-3.2 (e) (iv) (Y) Systems Enterprise Services GmbH with its registered offices in Frankfurt am Main 3.2 (e) (iv) (Z) Item and service numbers (AL numbers) concerning the provision of services that define the AGB business 3.2 (f) (ii) Software whose rights do not form part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities 3.3 (b) (ii) Main distribution frames that form part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities 3.3 (b) (viii) Technical systems and machinery attributable to the "Telekom Global Network" ("TGN") Technical systems and machinery attributable to the "Products & Innovation" area ("P 3.3 (b) (ix) & I") 3.3 (f) Fixed network components defined according to system classes and so-called network periphery 3.4 Limited personal easements and rights recorded in the land register in favor of Deutsche Telekom AG or one of its legal predecessors and real estate and buildings encumbered therewith and forming part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities 3.5 Companies in which Deutsche Telekom AG holds shares and equity investments that form part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities 3.6 (b) Accounts whose bank and account contracts form part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities

List of Annexes to the Spin-off and Take-over Agreement dated September 3, 2009

3.8 (a)	Employees taken over by T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH
3.9 (e) (i)	Purchase agreements with group-external third parties forming part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities
3.9 (e) (ii)	Purchase agreements with affiliated companies forming part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities
3.9 (e) (iii)	Sport marketing agreements forming part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities
3.9 (e) (iv)	Agreements concerning rights for linear transmission of film and television products forming part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities
3.9 (h)	Court or other administrative proceedings relating to items forming part of the Spin- off Assets and Liabilities or the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area
3.9 (j) (v)	Purchase agreements with group-external third parties not forming part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities
3.9 (j) (vi)	Purchase agreements with affiliated companies not forming part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities
4.6 (d)	Claims to recording of a limited personal easement secured by a priority notice
4.7 (d) (i)	Real estate and buildings with respect to which Deutsche Telekom AG agrees to create a limited personal easement in favor of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH concerning the right to use the real estate and buildings for the operation of main distribution frames
4.7 (d) (ii)	Template for the contents of a limited personal easement
6.2 (a)	Employment contracts attributable to the newly defined T-HOME Business Area

1. PREAMBLE

- Deutsche Telekom AG, with its registered offices in Bonn, is recorded in the commercial register of the Bonn Local Court under HRB 6794.
- 1.2 T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH, with its registered offices in Bonn, is recorded in the commercial register of the Bonn Local Court under HRB 5919. Upon conclusion of this Spin-off and Take-over Agreement, T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH's registered share capital, which is held in full by Deutsche Telekom AG, is EUR 520,000,000; it is fully paid in.
- 1.3 In its three strategic business areas, the Deutsche Telekom Group, whose parent is Deutsche Telekom AG, offers products and services for consumers and business customers as well as for carriers (other network operators). The three business areas are:
 - fixed line telephony and broadband services as well as Internet and entertainment offerings;
 - (ii) mobile voice and data communication offerings;

and

telecommunications and IT solutions for selected corporate customers and MNCs (multi-national corporations) and for the public and healthcare sector.

In Germany, these three business areas are covered by T-HOME (fixed network telephony and broadband services as well as Internet and entertainment offerings), T-MOBILE (mobile voice and data communications offers) and T-SYSTEMS (telecommunications and IT solutions for selected corporate customers and MNCs as well as for the public and healthcare sector).

Both T-HOME and T-MOBILE offer their goods and services in Germany on the consumer and business customer market, with the exception of the selected major corporations, which are handled by T-SYSTEMS. T-HOME and T-MOBILE have already been working together in Germany in a number of fields. The cooperation extends primarily to the sales and service activities, which have been integrated for some two years.

In this respect, the Germany telephony market is saturated in both business areas, whereas the German data and broadband market is continuing to expand. Further growth opportunities are resulting from the increasing demand for integrated and innovative mobile/fixed network offerings. These opportunities cannot be properly exploited given the current legal structures.

A merger between T-HOME and T-MOBILE in Germany into a single legal unit offers significant advantages compared to a continued legal separation of the domestic activities into the relevant business areas. It would, inter alia, further the aim of fully utilizing additional revenue opportunities in the respective current customer relationships. In this respect, the number of so-called double customers (fixed network and mobile) should be increased. Moreover, customer satisfaction should be improved through integrated offerings and services provided from under one roof, thus enhancing customer retention, while cost synergies should be utilized. A merger between T-HOME and T-MOBILE in Germany into a single legal unit permits a significant increase in competitiveness as a whole. Therefore a major step for this merger should be the transfer of the T-HOME Business Area, which is currently part of Deutsche Telekom AG, to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH in accordance with the provisions of this Spin-off and Take-over Agreement.

1.4 On July 1, 2009, apart from restructuring the segments of the Deutsche Telekom Group such that they are broken down into the "Germany" ("GER"), "USA" ("USA"), "Europe" ("EUR"), "Southern and Eastern Europe" ("SEE"), "System Business" ("SYS") and "Group Headquarters & Shared Services" ("GHS") segments, Deutsche Telekom AG began to modify its company-internal organizational structure. The aim of the changes in the organizational structure effected per July 1, 2009 and those still outstanding is to redefine the T-HOME Business Area such that it concentrates on fixed line telephony and broadband services and on connection-based Internet and entertainment offers on the German market for consumers and business customers and carriers. Individual units that perform additional tasks within Deutsche Telekom AG, particularly international ones, have been or – where the changes in the organizational structure are still outstanding – will be removed from the T-HOME Business Area.

- 1.5 By virtue of the Spin-off and Take-over Agreement, portions of Deutsche Telekom AG's assets and liabilities, which shall form part of the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area following full implementation of the new organizational structure whose introduction was commenced on July 1, 2009, shall be transferred to T-MOBILE Deutschland GmbH by way of spin-off by means of acquisition subject to Sections 3 and 4 (§ 123 (3) No. 1 in conjunction with §§ 124 et seq., 138, 141 et seq. of the Umwandlungsgesetz (UmwG--German Reorganization and Transformation Act) (hereinafter "UmwG").
- 1.6 In this respect, based on the organizational structure as at July 1, 2009, the following shall be transferred from Deutsche Telekom AG to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH together with all associated Assets subject to Sections 3 and 4:
 - the areas that, within the organization, are supervised by the chairman of the "T-HOME Divisional Board of Management" (unless expressly provided otherwise below, including any and all organizational sub-units):

"Marketing" ("M"), but not including "Event Marketing" ("M 43") and "Trade Fair Management" ("M 44") in the "Market Communication" ("M 4") department, which will both remain with Deutsche Telekom AG, and not including the following units: "Business International" ("BIN" or "ICSS") and "Product Management International" ("PM 1"), i.e. not including the international wholesale activities of the "Wholesale Center" ("Z W"), which shall also remain with Deutsche Telekom AG;

"Sales" ("V"),

"Technology" ("T") including the German Fixed Line Network, but not including the "Telekom Global Network" ("TGN") including the "International Network Management Center Frankfurt" ("INMC"), which shall also remain with Deutsche Telekom AG;

"Technical Customer Service" ("TK"),

"Customer Service" ("KS"),

"Market and Quality Management" ("MQM"), but not including "Product and Quality Management" ("MQM 41") and the area management of the "Terminal Equipment" department ("MQM 4"), which shall both remain with Deutsche Telekom AG;

"Information Technology" ("IT"), but not including the "International" ("IT 3") sub-unit, which shall remain with Deutsche Telekom AG, and not including the following subunits of the "Information Technology Center" ("Z IT"), which shall also remain with Deutsche Telekom AG with one specific reverse exception: the "Enterprise Middleware Management" ("Z IT 752") sub-department, the "IT Solutions Finances & Controlling" ("Z IT 4") department with the reverse exception that the section of the "Master Database and Sox" ("Z IT 437") sub-department that is involved with defining the SOX requirements for all national IT applications, shall be transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH, the section of the "Business Support and Reporting" ("ZIT22") sub-department that is involved with governing body support in complex IT projects, the positions of those employees in the "IT Infrastructure" ("Z IT 5") department who, as at June 30, 2009, already perform tasks for Deutsche Telekom AG involving license management, IT infrastructure standardization and contract management with IT service providers, and that section of the "IT Projects" ("Z IT 01") sub-department that is responsible for general management of Group IT projects in the ERP environment;

"Financing and Controlling" ("FC"), but not including the "International Business" ("IB"), "Controlling Global Network" ("CT34"), and "Accounting & Financial Statements T-Home" ("BA") departments, which shall remain with Deutsche Telekom AG, and not including the "Participation Controlling/Capital Market Communication" ("CBW 3") sub-unit with the reverse exception that the part involved with national interest controlling shall be transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH while the remaining part shall remain with Deutsche Telekom AG,

and

"Human Resources" ("HR"),

 the "Business Customers" ("DT GK") business unit, which passed to Deutsche Telekom AG upon recording of the merger between T-Systems Business Services GmbH with its registered offices in Bonn with Deutsche Telekom AG in the commercial register of Deutsche Telekom AG on April 1, 2009;

and

(iii) the Management Board Support ("VBV Support Office") and "Strategy T-Home" ("VBV1") organizational units directly supervised by the chairman of the "T-HOME Divisional Board of Management".

((i) to (iii) referred to previously and hereinafter as the "Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area").

Based on the organizational structure in place per July 1, 2009, the following, *inter alia*, shall not be included in the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area and shall therefore not be included in the transfer pursuant to this Spin-off and Take-over Agreement: the "Products & Innovation" ("P & I") area with the "Product House" sub-area, including the associated equity investments. Also not included in the transfer pursuant to this Spin-off and Take-over Agreement shall be the remaining areas forming part of the "Group Headquarters & Shared Services" ("GHS") segment as at July 1, 2009, including the associated equity investments, as well as – apart from the participation in T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH – the equity investments held by the "USA" ("USA"), "Europe" ("EUR"), "Southern and Eastern Europe" ("SEE") and "System Business" ("SYS") segments and various support units including the "Regulation" ("VBV2") unit.

1.7 The Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area is to be transferred as an operating business unit. Therefore it is intended that this Spin-off and Take-over Agreement shall include the transfer, in particular, of all Assets that are used exclusively by the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area and that constitute a material operating basis for the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area as an operating business; should Assets that constitute a material operating basis for the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area as an operating business; should Assets that constitute a material operating basis for the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area as an operating business.

not be exclusively used by the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area, the transfer shall be replaced by the grant of a long-term license.

2. GENERAL PROVISIONS

2.1 Spin-off by means of acquisition

Deutsche Telekom AG, with its registered offices in Bonn, as the transferring legal entity, shall transfer by way of spin-off by means of acquisition pursuant to § 123(3) No. 1 UmwG in their entirety those parts of its assets and liabilities that are defined in Section 3 as Spin-off Assets and Liabilities to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH, with its registered offices in Bonn, as the receiving legal entity against grant of a new share in T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH (hereinafter referred to as the "Spin-off").

2.2 Closing Balance Sheet, Effective Spin-off Date, effective transfer date for tax purposes

- (a) The Spin-off shall be based on the audited balance sheet of Deutsche Telekom AG per December 31, 2009 as closing balance sheet (hereinafter referred to as the "Closing Balance Sheet"). T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall recognize the assets and liabilities transferred to it using the same carrying amounts recognized by Deutsche Telekom AG and carry them in its financial accounts and tax accounts using the respective carrying amounts recognized by Deutsche Telekom AG.
- (b) As between Deutsche Telekom AG and T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH, the transfer shall enter into effect on January 1, 2010 (hereinafter referred to as the "Effective Spin-off Date"). Commencing January 1, 2010, any and all actions and transactions on the part of Deutsche Telekom AG relating to the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities as defined in Section 3 shall be deemed effected for the account of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH. Deutsche Telekom AG and T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall place each other in the positions in which they would be if the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities had already been transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH on the Effective Spin-off Date.
- (c) The effective transfer date for tax purposes shall be December 31, 2009 in accordance with § 20 (6) sentence 2 of the UmwG.

3. SPIN-OFF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

3.1 Subject matter of the Spin-off

- (a) Deutsche Telekom AG shall transfer the following in their entirety to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH:
 - (i) any and all tangible and intangible fixed assets, shown both as assets and liabilities, including contractual relations and other legal relations and legal positions of any kind, receivables and liabilities, uncertain liabilities, potential liabilities and future and conditional receivables and liabilities for which the legal basis has already been created, irrespective of whether these must or may be recorded in the balance sheet or have actually been recorded in the balance sheet (previously and hereinafter referred to as "Assets" or if individual Assets are meant, "Asset") and that are attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area, unless expressly exempted from the transfer below;
 - (ii) including any and all Assets of the "Business Customers" ("DT GK") business unit that were transferred to Deutsche Telekom AG upon recording in the commercial

register of Deutsche Telekom AG of the merger between T-Systems Business Services GmbH, with its registered offices in Bonn, and Deutsche Telekom AG on April 1, 2009;

and

- (iii) including any and all Assets expressly attributable below to the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities.
- ((i) to (iii) previously and hereinafter referred to as the "Spin-off Assets and Liabilities").

The assets and liabilities of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities per July 1, 2009 are indicated in the pro forma balance sheet per July 1, 2009 attached as **Annex 3.1 (a)**. The provisions of Section 2.2 (a) sentence 1 and Section 3.10 shall remain unaffected.

- (b) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include, in particular, any and all Assets that constitute a material operating basis for the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area as an operating business unit and that are used exclusively by the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area.
- (c) Unless expressly provided otherwise below in Section 3.1 (d) and (e) or in Sections 3.2 to 3.10, the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include, in particular, any and all Assets that per January 1, 2010 are shown in the company codes 1001, 1021 and 1022 in the "Software Integration Telekom" ("SINTEL R/3") accounting system, i.e. the SAP R/3 central management system and the interface systems of Deutsche Telekom AG (hereinafter and in relation to January 1, 2010 referred to as "Company Codes Included in the Spin-off").
- (d) The following shall in any event not be included in the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities and shall therefore be excluded from the transfer:
 - any and all trademarks, design models, patents and utility models of Deutsche Telekom AG;
 - any and all real estate, buildings and hereditary building rights of Deutsche Telekom AG;
 - (iii) the agreements concerning a collateral promise in relation to commitments for company occupational pensions and partial early retirement arrangements that Deutsche Telekom AG concluded on June 21, 2007 with Deutsche Telekom Netzproduktion GmbH, with its registered offices in Bonn, on June 22, 2007 with Deutsche Telekom Kundenservice GmbH, with its registered offices in Bonn, and on June 22, 2007 with Deutsche Telekom Technischer Service GmbH, with its registered offices in Bonn, together with the rights and obligations under such collateral promise and any agreements concerning the assumption of contractual undertakings to perform the obligation of another party concluded by Deutsche Telekom AG with the three aforementioned companies in conjunction with the collateral promise, in each case including any and all rights and obligations resulting from such agreements;
 - (iv) the interest held in T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH by Deutsche Telekom AG;
 - the control agreement dated December 4, 2000 in place between Deutsche Telekom AG and T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH, together with any and all rights and obligations resulting from such agreement;

- (vi) the profit and loss transfer agreement dated December 4, 2000 in place between Deutsche Telekom AG and T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH, together with any and all rights and obligations resulting from such agreement.
- (e) The liabilities of Deutsche Telekom AG under those agreements to which the contract numbers set forth in Annex 3.1 (e) are allotted in the "Integrated Treasury System" ("ITS") shall form part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities in economic terms, but, in relation to the respective outside creditors, shall remain with Deutsche Telekom AG as debtor. Accordingly, in legal terms, they shall be exempted from the assets and liabilities being transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH upon the entry into effect of the Spin-off, although T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH agrees to satisfy such liabilities pursuant to Section 3.7 (g) inter se in relation to Deutsche Telekom AG.

3.2 Intangible fixed assets

- (a) Unless expressly provided otherwise in Section 3.1 (d) and (e) or in Sections 3.2 to 3.10, the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include any and all intangible fixed assets shown in the Company Codes Included in the Spin-off or otherwise attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area, i.e. unless expressly provided otherwise in Section 3.1 (d) and (e) or in Sections 3.2 to 3.10 in particular:
 - any concessions, licenses and similar rights (allotment rights, syndicate rights, rights of use, subscription rights, usufructuary rights, supply and distribution rights, rights of transmission and rights of way, emission reduction certificates, rights to use telephone numbers including porting IDs, IP addresses, rights for linear transmission of film and television products, rights for the transmission of sporting events etc.) attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area and similar assets (unprotected inventions, know-how, secret procedures, customer indexes, film and sound recordings etc.);

and

(ii) any rights and legal positions attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business area, in particular, rights to down payments made on intangible fixed assets;

in each case including any and all rights and obligations under contractual or other legal relations underlying such Assets or associated therewith.

- (b) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include:
 - (i) any and all rights in the network-specific software used in the Fixed Line Network, *inter alia*, rights in technical systems, platforms and other technical elements for transmission and switching as well software used for other network management in and belonging to the Fixed Line Network, in particular, the self-created and third party-created software set forth in Annex 3.2 (b) (i), subject to the exception that where licenses are limited to technical elements of the Fixed Line Network, only such licenses limited to technical elements of the Fixed Line Network shall be covered by this Section 3.2 (b) (i), i.e. licenses concerning the same software that are limited to other technical elements, in particular, technical elements pertaining to the "Telekom Global Network" ("TGN") (see Section 3.2 (f) (iv)) shall not be covered by this Section 3.2 (b) (i);

- (ii) any and all rights in the network-specific software used in the "Technical Launch Center" ("ZTE") including rights in the software for management and operation of systems and platforms that show future products and developments for tests and validations, in particular, the self-created and third party-created software set forth in Annex 3.2 (b) (i), subject to the exception that where licenses are limited to technical elements of the "Technical Launch Center" ("ZTE"), only such licenses limited to technical elements of the "Technical Launch Center" ("ZTE") shall be covered by this Section 3.2 (b) (i), i.e. licenses concerning the same software that are limited to other technical elements, in particular, technical elements pertaining to the "Telekom Global Network" ("TGN") (see Section 3.2 (f) (iv)) shall not be covered by this Section 3.2 (b) (ii)
- (iii) any and all rights in the specific software for the service production of the valueadded network services (the value-added network services include public telecommunications, information, data editing, value-added solutions such as national and international voice value-added network services, including valueadded solutions for customers that are also customers of T-Systems Enterprise Services GmbH; value-added network services are defined in greater detail in Annex 3.2 (b) (iii) (X)) used in the "Value-added Network Services Center" ("ZMD"), in particular, rights in the self-created and third party-created software set forth in Annex 3.2 (b) (iii) (Y);
- (iv) any rights in software that is not network-specific and supports business processes and set forth in Annex 3.2 (b) (iv);
- any and all rights in standard software that is exclusively used in the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area and any and all rights in standard software that is exclusively used in the Newly Defined T-HOME Business area;

 (vi) any and all rights in software that is used exclusively in the "Business Customers" ("DT GK") business unit and any and all rights in software that is used exclusively in the "Business Customers" ("DT GK") business unit, even if they have not yet been covered by paragraphs (i) to (v);

in each case including any rights in further developments contractually granted in association with such rights or to which Deutsche Telekom AG is otherwise entitled. In this respect, "Software Rights" previously and hereinafter includes both licenses and any and all other rights in or under the software and to software.

- (c) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include the know-how attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area, in particular:
 - any know-how associated with the Fixed Line Network, including the architecture and solution concepts, technical specifications and data and work instructions for the Fixed Line Network;
 - (ii) any know-how associated with the test and reference systems of the "Technology Launch Center" ("ZTE"), including the architecture concepts (system architectures), solution concepts, technical specifications and data and work instructions for innovative implementation of product and platform developments for the Fixed Line Network, in particular those for which an entrepreneurial decision for implementation has already been made;

- (iii) the know-how associated with the "Value-added Network Services Center" ("ZMD"), including the architecture and solution concepts, technical specifications and data and work instructions for value-added network services (see Section 3.2 (b) (iii)).
- (d) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include any and all contents of the technical databases, customer databases and other databases attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area and any rights therein, thereon or thereunder.
- (e) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include the established customer base attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area, in particular:
 - the customer base from the business involving national line-based products (irrespective of the technology, for example, PSTN, IP etc.) such as voice connections, DSL connections, double/triple play connections, data products, TDN (Telekom Designed Network) solutions, T-VPN (Virtual Private Networks) voice solutions, national wholesale/resale products, national wholesale solutions, interconnect products and solutions, in particular, those consisting of the customers set forth in Annex 3.2 (e) (i);
 - the established customer base from the business with non-line-based products such as ISP products (Internet access), value-added network services (see Section 3.2 (b) (iii)), including value-added solutions for customers that are also customers of T-Systems Enterprise Services GmbH, with its registered offices in Frankfurt am Main, leased equipment (for example leased telephones, routers, telecommunications systems, PCs), services (for example assembly, remote services), in particular those consisting of the customers set forth in Annex 3.2 (e) (ii), with the exception, however, of the established customer base from the "Product House" business with digital services (non-access products);
 - (iii) the established customer base from the business involving dependent services for the categories specified in paragraphs (i) and (ii), for example, connection-related add-on options (e.g. mailbox, security package, homepage, add-on options such as Entertain etc., provided these are booked via T-HOME Access, irrespective of availability on the free Internet), rate options (for example, discounts for time/volume thresholds, hot spot), equipment extensions (for example, extensions to telecommunications systems), service level agreements (individual service agreements, for example, for fault clearance times) and infrastructure services (for example collocation and ventilation technology, including associated ancillary services and emergency power systems);

and

(iv) the established customer base of the "Business Customers" ("DT GK") business unit, in particular, those consisting of the customers set forth in Annex 3.2 (e) (iv) (X), including the established customer base concerning the AGB network business consisting of those customers that are also customers of T-Systems Enterprise Services GmbH, with its registered offices in Frankfurt am Main, in particular, those customers set forth in Annex 3.2 (e) (iv) (Y), even if not yet covered by paragraphs (i) to (iii). In this respect, the AGB network business means any and all agreements that relate to provision of a service according to one or more of the item and service numbers (AL numbers) set forth in Annex 3.2 (e) (iv) (Z).

- (f) The following shall not be included in the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities and shall be excluded from the transfer accordingly:
 - the IT applications developed and supported by the "IT Solutions Finances & Controlling" ("Z IT 4") sub-department, which support the secondary processes of financing, controlling and purchasing;
 - the rights in the software set forth in Annex 3.2 (f) (ii);
 - the rights in the network-specific software used exclusively in the "Telekom Global Network" ("TGN");
 - the licenses limited to the technical elements of the "Telekom Global Network" ("TGN") concerning the network-specific software used in the "Telekom Global Network" ("TGN");
 - (v) long-term licenses for capacity abroad ("DDP");
 - (vi) the established customer base from the business involving international wholesale/resale products and international wholesale solutions and termination and peering, including customers of the "Business International" ("BIN" or "ICSS") units from use of the "Telekom Global Network" ("TGN");

(vii) the established customer base from the "Product House" business with digital services (non-access products) and rights in the items and works of the relevant business underlying the products (including video-on-demand, music rights and other licenses).

3.3 Property, plant and equipment

- (a) Unless expressly provided otherwise in Section 3.1 (d) and (e) or in Sections 3.2 to 3.10, the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include any and all property, plant and equipment shown in the Company Codes Included in the Spin-off and other property, plant and equipment attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area, i.e., unless expressly provided otherwise in Section 3.1 (d) and (e) or in Sections 3.2 to 3.10, the following, in particular:
 - the technical systems and machinery attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area;
 - (ii) other systems and items pertaining to the plant and equipment and attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area;

and

(iii) any rights and legal positions attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area, in particular, rights based on down payments rendered for property, plant and equipment, and property, plant and equipment under construction, in particular, Fixed Line Network expansions that have not yet been completed;

in each case including any and all rights and obligations under contractual or other legal relations underlying such Assets or associated therewith.

(b) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include the entire Fixed Line Network of Deutsche Telekom AG located in the territory of the Federal Republic of Germany, including the telecommunications lines, i.e. telecommunications cable systems located aboveground and underground, including associated switching and distribution equipment, pylons and supports, manholes and cable channels and other components of the cable routes, together with accessories, with the exception, however, of the network elements attributable to the "Telekom Global Network" ("TGN") and the technical systems and machinery attributable to the "Products & Innovation" ("P & I") area (previously and hereinafter referred to as the "Fixed Line Network") including any and all rights in components of the Fixed Line Network.

The Fixed Line Network shall include, in particular:

- all customer network connections, the outside plant termination points (APL) and the network, including the telecommunications lines, associated technical systems and machinery and accessories between the outside plant termination point and main distribution frames, in particular, the cable distribution boxes (KVz) and the multi-function cabinet (MFG), in each case including the technical systems therein ("Access" network level);
- the main distribution frames specified in Annex 3.3 (b) (ii) consisting, *inter alia*, of the converging telecommunications lines, technical systems and machinery;
- (iii) the network elements behind the main distribution frames when viewed from the outside plant termination point, including telecommunications lines, associated technical systems and machinery and accessories, the "Aggregation" network level, in particular, the Asynchronous Transfer Mode (ATM) and Ethernet nodes (routers) on such level, and the "backbone" network level, in particular, the computers that control the telecommunications traffic (so-called network nodes);
- (iv) the exchanges at the main distribution frames specified in Section 3.3 (b) (ii);

and

 (v) any and all network-related hardware, in particular, hardware for transmission, switching and other network management for the three network levels (access, aggregation and backbone);

in each case with the exception of the network elements attributable to the "Telekom Global Network" ("TGN") and the technical systems and machinery attributable to the "Products & Innovation" ("P & I") area.

The Fixed Line Network is linked with networks of other carriers and third parties and to this extent extends to the technical transfer points as part of the collocation.

The following network elements shall not be included in the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities and shall instead be attributable to the "Telekom Global Network" ("TGN"):

- the submarine cable systems including the technical systems and main distribution frames in the submarine cable termination points at the German coastlines with the operating site codes 493100, 493600, 382107 and 465100;
- (vii) any and all technical systems and machinery and other property, plant and equipment located in the building of the "International Network Management Center

Frankfurt" ("INMC") (operating site code 691601), with the exception of the cable feeds to the cable distribution room;

and

(viii) the technical systems and machinery set forth in Annex 3.3 (b) (viii).

The following technical systems and machinery shall not be included in the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities but shall instead be attributable to the "Products & Innovation" ("P & I") area:

- (ix) the technical systems and machinery set forth in Annex 3.3 (b) (ix).
- (c) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include any and all terminal equipment and inhouse networks, provided these are owned by Deutsche Telekom AG.
- (d) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include the test and reference systems of the "Technical Launch Center" ("ZTE"), in particular, the hardware systems (network elements, servers, routers, cable systems etc.), which show future products and developments for tests and validations, testing and checking devices and the replica of the Cu cable network (cable testing system).
- (e) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include the property, plant and equipment attributable to the "Value-added Network Services Center" ("ZMD"), in particular, the information telephony platform, the public telecommunications centers (terminal equipment and housing), advertising, conference call bridges plus back-end systems, hardware for customer-specific value-added network services and for the AtX platform.
- (f) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include the Assets defined according to system classes in Annex 3.3 (f), unless they are attributable pursuant to Section 3.3 (b) (vi) to (viii) to the "Telekom Global Network" ("TGN") or, pursuant to Section 3.3 (b) (ix), to the "Products & Innovation" ("P & I") area (components of the Fixed Line Network and the socalled network periphery).
- (g) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include any and all Assets pertaining to the property, plant and equipment of the "Business Customers" ("DT GK") business unit, even if they are not yet covered by Section 3.3 (b) to (f).
- (h) The following shall not be included in the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities and shall be excluded from the transfer accordingly:
 - the network elements attributable to the "Telekom Global Network" ("TGN") pursuant to Section 3.3 (b) (vi) to (viii);

and

the technical systems and machinery attributable to the "Products & Innovation" ("P & I") area pursuant to Section 3.3 (b) (ix).

3.4 Limited personal easements and other rights recorded in the land register

The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include any and all limited personal easements and other rights recorded in the land register that are recorded (i) in favor of Deutsche Telekom AG or one of its legal predecessors, and (ii) that secure the creation, use or development of Spin-off Assets and Liabilities, in particular, that confer rights to use the real estate for telecommunications systems or telecommunications lines or that otherwise operate to

secure cable and line rights or rights in conjunction with the operation and use of exchanges, with the exemption of limited personal easements and other rights recorded in the land register that are limited to pure rights of way for pedestrians or traffic. The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include, in particular, the limited personal easements and rights recorded in the land register in favor of Deutsche Telekom AG or one of its legal predecessors specified in **Annex 3.4** in relation to the real estate or buildings set forth therein.

3.5 Shares in affiliated companies and other equity investments

The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include any and all shares and equity investments held by Deutsche Telekom AG in the companies set forth in **Annex 3.5**, in each case together with any and all associated rights and duties. Section 3.9 (j) (viii) shall remain unaffected. Where equity investments in partnerships are concerned (for tax purposes: commercial partnerships (*Mituntermehmerschaften*)), these shall be transferred together with the partnership's "special business assets and liabilities" (*Sonderbetriebsvermögen I*) or to the co-ownership interest (*Sonderbetriebsvermögen II*). The provisions of Sections 4.2 (b) and 4.8 (d) shall apply *mutatis mutandis*. Shares and equity investments in companies other than those stipulated in sentence 1 do not constitute Spin-off Assets and Liabilities and are accordingly excluded from transfer unless otherwise stipulated in Section 4.2 (b).

3.6 Current assets

- (a) Unless expressly provided otherwise in Section 3.1 (d) and (e) or in Sections 3.2 to 3.10, the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include any and all current assets shown in the Company Codes Included in the Spin-off and other current assets attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area, i.e., unless expressly provided otherwise in Section 3.1 (d) and (e) or in Sections 3.2 to 3.10, the following, in particular:
 - the inventories attributable to the Newly Defined T-H OME Business Area, in particular, raw materials, manufacturing and operating supplies and other inventories, unfinished products and services, finished products and goods, in each case including any and all rights and legal positions, in particular, rights under down payments rendered, and expendables;
 - the receivables for goods and services attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area, including those against affiliated companies and companies in which an interest is held, and other Assets;

and

(iii) legal relations based on accruals and attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area;

in each case including any and all rights and obligations under contractual or other legal relations underlying such Assets or associated therewith.

- (b) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include any and all rights and duties under banking and account agreements concerning the accounts set forth in Annex 3.6 (b).
- (c) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include any and all of the current assets of the "Business Customers" ("DT GK") business unit, even if they are not yet covered by Section 3.6 (b).

3.7 Liabilities and obligations, risks and charges

- (a) Unless expressly provided otherwise in Section 3.1 (d) and (e) or in Sections 3.2 to 3.10, the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include any and all liabilities and obligations shown in the Company Codes Included in the Spin-off or otherwise attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area, including uncertain liabilities, potential liabilities and future liabilities of Deutsche Telekom AG, the legal basis for which has already been created, i.e., unless expressly provided otherwise in Section 3.1 (d) and (e) or in Sections 3.2 to 3.10, the following in particular if these are attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area:
 - liabilities from down payments on orders received;
 - (ii) liabilities for goods and services;
 - (iii) liabilities to affiliated companies or companies in which an interest is held;
 - (iv) other liabilities;
 - uncertain liabilities and charges for which provisions are recognized (in this respect, the procedures set forth in Section 3.8 shall apply to pension commitments);

and

- (vi) legal relations underlying deferred payments.
- (b) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include the liabilities and obligations under the agreements and other legal relations forming part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities pursuant to Section 3.9 (b) to (h).
- (c) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include the dismantling obligations with regard to the Fixed Line Network and dismantling obligations for public telecommunications centers.
- (d) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include grant back rights under security provided attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area, in particular, those in conjunction with the agreements specified in Section 3.9 (c) and, if these do not consist of a cash payment, the security corresponding to the aforementioned grant back obligations (ownership by way of security, legal positions under guarantee agreements etc.).
- (e) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include any and all liabilities and obligations, risks and charges of the "Business Customers" ("DT GK") business unit, even if they are not yet covered by Section 3.7 (b) to (d).
- (f) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include liabilities under those loan agreements with Deutsche Telekom International Finance B.V., with its registered offices in Amsterdam, the Netherlands, to which the following contracting numbers are allotted in the "Integrated Treasury System" ("ITS"): 21332 (loan from MTN 21403 (ISIN XS0132407957) due on July 11, 2011), 24408 (loan from MTN 25656 (ISIN XS0155312829) due on May 29, 2012) and 27596 (loan from MTN 27565 (ISIN XS0166575067) due on December 9, 2010).
- (g) T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH promises Deutsche Telekom AG inter se with economic effect from the Effective Spin-off Date to satisfy Deutsche Telekom AG's liabilities under those agreements allotted the contract numbers specified in Annex 3.1 (e) in the "Integrated Treasury System" ("ITS").

- (h) The following shall not be included in the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities and shall be excluded from the transfer accordingly:
 - the liabilities and obligations attributable to the "Telekom Global Network" ("TGN"), in particular, for licenses in international capacities with ongoing operating and restoration services and the dismantling obligations concerning submarine cables;
 - the liabilities and obligations under the agreements and other legal relations not included in the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities pursuant to Section 3.9 (j).

3.8 Liabilities under occupational pensions, partial early retirement arrangements, and long-term time accounts

- As against the transferred employees, T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall with economic (a) effect upon the Effective Spin-off Date assume all rights and duties under the company pension commitments granted by Deutsche Telekom AG. For entitlements to occupational pension benefits accrued by the effective spin-off date by employees transferred from T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH pursuant to Annex 3.8 (a), Deutsche Telekom AG shall, via intragroup cost allocation, transfer to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH assets equal to the liabilities arising from the defined benefit obligation (DBO) in accordance with IAS 19 for pension provisions recognized in the annual financial statements as of December 31, 2009. The data pool of Deutsche Telekom AG as captured in the inventory on September 30, 2009 shall form the data basis. The precise amount to be transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH by Deutsche Telekom AG shall be calculated by T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH in consultation with Deutsche Telekom AG without undue delay following the end of the fiscal year on December 31, 2009 and no later than March 31, 2010. The calculation shall be based on the same assumptions used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of Deutsche Telekom AG as of December 31, 2009.
- (b) T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall assume with economic effect upon the Effective Spinoff Date any and all rights and duties under the current liabilities of Deutsche Telekom AG, namely, pension commitments (under pension claims and expectancies) of Deutsche Telekom AG vis-à-vis employees who leave between the Effective Spin-off Date and the Execution Date but whose employment relationship would pass to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH in the manner described in Section 6.2 if it were to continue unchanged until the Execution Date. The provisions set forth in Section 3.8 (a) shall apply *mutatis mutandis* for the transfer of Assets.
- (c) Deutsche Telekom AG's rights and duties under pension liabilities existing at Deutsche Telekom AG towards employees who have already left as at the Effective Spin-off Date (occupational pension recipients and potential pension beneficiaries) shall remain with Deutsche Telekom AG and shall not be assumed by T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH.
- (d) In consideration for the obligations under partial early retirement arrangements and longterm time accounts assumed, T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall receive Assets equivalent to the obligations valued under IFRS. It agrees to invest such Assets directly and protected against insolvency in accordance with the relevant statutory provisions. The shares in the Contractual Trust Arrangement (CTA) recorded in the balance sheet for covering the obligations under the partial early retirement arrangements and long-term time accounts of the assumed employees at Deutsche Telekom AG shall remain with Deutsche Telekom AG.

3.9 Agreements and other legal relations

- (a) Unless expressly provided otherwise in Section 3.1 (d) and (e) or in Sections 3.2 to 3.10, the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include any and all rights and duties shown in the Company Codes Included in the Spin-off or other contractual or other legal relations and legal positions attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area, irrespective of whether these are of a private law or public law nature.
- (b) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include:
 - any and all agreements whose subject matter concerns the software rights covered by Section 3.2 (b);
 - (ii) any and all agreements between Deutsche Telekom AG and T-Systems Enterprise Services GmbH, with its registered offices in Frankfurt am Main, whose subject matter concerns the provision and operation of software set forth in Annex 3.2 (b) (iv);
 - (iii) any and all agreements between Deutsche Telekom AG and T-Systems Enterprise Services GmbH, with its registered offices in Frankfurt am Main, whose subject matter concerns the provision and operation of workplace systems of the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area;

and

(iv) the agreements set forth in Section 3.7 (f) with Deutsche Telekom International Finance B.V., with its registered offices in Amsterdam, the Netherlands;

in each case with any and all rights and duties resulting from such agreements.

- (c) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include:
 - any and all agreements with customers whose subject matter concerns national line-based products (irrespective of the technology, such as PSTN, IP etc.), such as voice connections, DSL connections, double/triple play connections, data products, TDN (Telekom Designed Network) solutions, T-VPN (Virtual Private Networks) voice solutions, national wholesale/resale products, national whole solutions, interconnect products and solutions, in particular, those with the customers set forth in Annex 3.2 (e) (i);
 - (ii) any and all agreements whose subject matter concerns non-line-based products such as ISP products (Internet access), value-added network services (see Section 3.2 (b) (iii)), including value-added solutions for customers that are also customers of T-Systems Enterprise Services GmbH, with its registered offices in Frankfurt am Main, leased equipment (for example, leased telephones, routers, telecommunications systems, PCs), services (such as assembly, remote services), in particular those with the customers set forth in Annex 3.2 (e) (ii), with the exception, however, of customers from the "Product House" business with digital services (non-access products);
 - (iii) any and all agreements with customers whose subject matter concerns independent services from the categories specified in paragraphs (i) and (ii) such as connectionrelated add-on options (e.g. mailbox, security package, homepage, add-on options for Entertain etc., provided these are booked via T-HOME Access, irrespective of availability in the free Internet), rate options (for example, discounts for time/volume

thresholds, hot spots), equipment extensions (for example, extensions of telecommunications systems), service level agreements (individual service agreements, for example, concerning fault clearance times) and infrastructure services (for example, collocation and ventilation technology including associated supplementary services and emergency power systems);

and

(iv) any and all agreements by the "Business Customers" ("DT GK") business unit with the customers attributable to such business unit, in particular, with the customers set forth in Annex 3.2 (e) (iv) (X), including the customers from the AGB network business that are also customers of T-Systems Enterprise Services GmbH, with its registered offices in Frankfurt am Main, in particular, those customers set forth in Annex 3.2 (e) (iv) (Y), even if they are not yet covered in paragraphs (i) to (iii). In this respect, the AGB network business means all agreements that concern the provision of a service based on one or more of the item and service numbers (AL numbers) set forth in Annex 3.2 (e) (iv) (Z);

in each case with any and all rights and duties resulting from such agreements. These agreements shall also include such agreements that are created by way of administrative order issued to Deutsche Telekom AG by the *Bundesnetzagentur* (Federal Network Agency for Electricity, Gas, Telecommunications, Post and Railway). Moreover, the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include any and all agreements relating to the agreements under paragraphs (i) to (iv) concerning security in favor of Deutsche Telekom AG (such as guarantee agreements).

- (d) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include:
 - any and all agreements with owners of real estate whose subject matter concerns the transmission and use of telecommunications lines and any and all agreements whose subject matter concerns joint use of other facilities intended for the installation of telecommunications cables (so-called joint use agreements or permission contracts (*Gestattungsverträge*));
 - any and all agreements with owners of real estate whose subject matter concerns subscriber lines (agreements for the use of real estate and so-called property owner's declarations);
 - (iii) any and all agreements with other carriers or third parties concerning rights in their networks located in the territory of the Federal Republic of Germany and concerning network-based services provided via such networks and for the invoicing of receivables of Deutsche Telekom AG;
 - (iv) any and all agreements whose subject matter concerns the provisions for the allocation of costs for modification and extension work on the Fixed Line Network;
 - (v) any and all agreements (for example, with carriers or municipalities) whose subject matter concerns broadband expansion in Germany;
 - (vi) any and all cooperation agreements associated with the Fixed Line Network with respect to which performance is rendered by Deutsche Telekom AG free of charge;
 - (vii) any and all agreements, in particular, lease agreements, concerning the use of third party real estate for setting up public telecommunications centers and agreements concerning the acquisition, development, operation and marketing of advertising

space on private and public property as well as marketing and brokerage agreements for "Out of Home Media";

and

(viii) any and all license agreements pursuant to § 45 a of the *Telekommunikations-gesetz* (Telecommunications Act) of 2004 or previous provisions;

in each case with any and all rights and duties resulting from such agreements.

- (e) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include:
 - (i) the purchasing agreements with Group-external third parties with the contract numbers set forth in Annex 3.9 (e) (i), which are filed under such contract numbers, *inter alia*, in the central SAP system of Deutsche Telekom AG or in the central SAP system of T-Systems Enterprise Services GmbH, with its registered offices in Frankfurt am Main, including the individual agreements and individual retrievals based on such purchase agreements;
 - (ii) the purchasing agreements with third parties with the contract numbers set forth in Annex 3.9 (e) (ii), which are filed under such contract numbers, *inter alia*, in the central SAP system of Deutsche Telekom AG or in the central SAP system of T-Systems Enterprise Services GmbH, with its registered offices in Frankfurt am Main, including the individual agreements and individual retrievals based on such purchase agreements;
 - the sport marketing agreements set forth in Annex 3.9 (e) (iii);
 - (iv) any and all agreements concerning rights for linear transmission of film and television products, in particular, the agreement set forth in Annex 3.9 (e) (iv) and the archive rights corresponding with such agreements;

and

 the contractual relationship between Deutsche Telekom AG and Active Billing GmbH & Co. KG, with its registered offices in Bonn, concerning services for third party billing;

in each case with any and all rights and duties resulting from such agreements.

- (f) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include any and all rights and duties under public law agreements, approvals, permits, permissions, consents, licenses and other entitlements (hereinafter referred to as "Public Law Authorizations") and other public law dispositions, decisions and other sovereign measures (hereinafter referred to as "Other Public Law Measures") of any kind attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area. These shall include, in particular:
 - Public Law Authorizations and Other Public Law Measures for the systems requiring approval during the course of the Spin-off and other operating approvals;
 - Public Law Authorizations and Other Public Law Measures in conjunction with the establishment and expansion, maintenance and use of the Fixed Line Network;

and

- (iii) Public Law Authorizations associated with the business operations of the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area and Other Public Law Measures in accordance with the Telecommunications Act of 2004, previous provisions or legal provisions issued on the basis thereof.
- (g) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include any and all legal provisions under the tender processes attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area subject to public procurement law (for example, prequalifications, qualifying competitions and bids), in particular, resulting from tendering processes as part of the "More Broadband for Germany" (*Mehr Breitband für Deutschland*) project.
- (h) The Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include any and all of the following if these are attributable to other items of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities or are otherwise attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area:
 - procedural legal positions, including those under administrative proceedings and arbitration proceedings, with third parties and any and all contractual agreements with third parties that concern the acknowledgement or corresponding enforcement of results of judicial proceedings, administrative proceedings and arbitration proceedings or the assertion of rights reserved by the parties to the relevant proceedings;

enforceable rights under completed, final and binding dunning proceedings and other legal relationships under procedural law as at the Execution Date;

particularly those under the proceedings set forth in Annex 3.9 (h).

- (i) The Asset to be spun-off shall include any and all contractual and other legal relations and legal positions of "Business Customers" ("DT GK") business unit, even if they are not yet covered by Section 3.9 (b) to (h).
- (j) The following shall not be included in the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities and shall be excluded from the transfer accordingly:
 - any and all agreements whose subject matter concerns the rights in the software set forth in Annex 3.2 (f) (ii);
 - (ii) any and all agreements with customers whose subject matter concerns the international wholesale/resale products or international wholesale solutions, termination or peering, including customers of the "Business International" ("BIN" or "ICSS") units from use of the "Telekom Global Network" ("TGN");
 - (iii) any and all agreements with customers and suppliers (licensors) whose subject matter concerns digital services (non-access products) of the "Product House" (including video-on-demand rights, music rights and other licenses);
 - (iv) any and all lease agreements with GMG Generalmietgesellschaft mbH, with its registered offices in Bonn,
 - (v) the purchasing agreements with third parties with the contract numbers set forth in Annex 3.9 (j) (v) that are filed under such contract numbers, *inter alia*, in the central SAP system of Deutsche Telekom AG or in the central SAP system of T-Systems Enterprise Services GmbH, with its registered offices in Frankfurt am Main,

including individual agreements concluded on the basis of such purchase agreements and individual retrievals, provided these are not attributed to the Spinoff Assets and Liabilities in Section 3.9 (e) (i);

- (vi) the purchasing agreements with affiliated companies set forth in Annex 3.9 (j) (vi) that are filed under such contract numbers, *inter alia*, in the central SAP system of Deutsche Telekom AG or in the central SAP system of T-Systems Enterprise Services GmbH, with its registered offices in Frankfurt am Main, including individual agreements concluded on the basis of such purchase agreements and individual retrievals, provided these are not attributed to the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities in Section 3.9 (e) (ii),
- (vii) sport marketing agreements other than those specified in Annex 3.9 (e) (iii);

and

 (viii) any and all control agreements, profit and loss transfer agreements, and control and profit and loss transfer agreements in place between Deutsche Telekom AG and the companies set forth in Annex 3.5;

in each case with any and all rights and duties resulting from such agreements.

3.10 Additions and disposals prior to the Execution Date

The portfolio of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities as at the Execution Date shall govern the scope of the Assets. Any additions or disposals in the Assets as at the Execution Date shall be taken into account in the transfer. Accordingly, the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities – unless expressly provided otherwise in Section 3.1 (d) and (e) or in Sections 3.2 to 3.9 – shall also include those Assets attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area, including substitute products received by or created in the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area by the Execution Date. Similarly, those Assets attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area pursuant to this Agreement that have been sold prior to the Execution Date or are not or no longer held by Deutsche Telekom AG as of the Execution Date shall not be transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH.

3.11 Retention of title, expectancies and recovery claims

Should the items forming part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities be subject to third party retentions of title as of the Execution Date or should Deutsche Telekom AG have transferred title therein to third parties by way of security, the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall include any and all rights and duties vesting in Deutsche Telekom AG in this context, including expectancies and recovery claims. Should the items forming part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities be subject to joint ownership as of the Execution Date, Deutsche Telekom AG's joint ownership interest shall form part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities.

4. MODALITIES OF TRANSFER

4.1 Spin-off execution, Execution Date

- (a) The transfer of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall take place with effect in rem as at the date of recording of the Spin-off in the commercial register of Deutsche Telekom AG (previously and hereinafter referred to as the "Execution Date").
- (b) Possession of any moveable and immovable property forming part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities shall be transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH upon the Execution

Date. Should the Assets included in the Spin-off be in the possession of third parties, Deutsche Telekom AG shall transfer its recovery claims to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH with effect *in rem* upon the Execution Date.

(c) T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall acquire possession of all books, correspondence, operating data and other business records kept in conjunction with the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area in the enterprise of Deutsche Telekom AG. T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall also acquire possession of any and all instruments necessary for asserting the rights being transferred to it. T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall store the books, correspondence, operating data and other business records for Deutsche Telekom AG during the statutory retention periods.

4.2 Obstacles to transfer, catch-all clause, duties of cooperation

- Should certain Assets that are supposed to be transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH (a) pursuant to this Spin-off and Take-over Agreement not already be transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH upon recording of the Spin-off in Deutsche Telekom AG's commercial register, Deutsche Telekom AG shall separately transfer such Assets to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH in accordance with the respective applicable provisions subject to the proviso that the transfer take place with effect upon the Effective Spin-off Date as between Deutsche Telekom AG and T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH. T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall accept such transfer. At Deutsche Telekom AG's request, T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall until entry into effect of the transfer take any and all necessary or expedient actions or measures and shall render any and all necessary and expedient declarations that T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH would have to take or render if the transfer had already taken place upon the Execution Date, in particular, any and all actions, measures and declarations that are necessary or expedient for fulfillment of contractual or other duties that still affect Deutsche Telekom AG until transfer. Should this be necessary, the parties shall conclude separate business procurement agreements. Section 4.7 (e) shall remain unaffected.
- (b) Section 4.2 (a) shall apply, in particular, to Assets that constitute a material operating basis for the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area as an operating business unit and that are used exclusively by the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area, even if:
 - these are not expressly specified in Sections 3.1 to 3.11;
 - Deutsche Telekom AG has acquired legal or beneficial ownership thereof only following valid conclusion of this Spin-off and Take-over Agreement but prior to the Execution Date;

or

despite extensive relevant efforts for disclosure, it has not been ascertained in good time that material operating bases were involved.

To this extent, Deutsche Telekom AG and T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall place themselves *inter se* in the financial situation in which they would be if the relevant Asset has already been transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH upon the Effective Spin-off Date. The same shall apply for the grant of any long-term license for Assets that constitute a material operating basis for the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area as an operating business unit but that are not exclusively used by the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area (so-called multi use assets). Section 4.7 (e) shall remain unaffected.

- (c) Should transfer to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH be impossible as against third parties, Deutsche Telekom AG and T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall place themselves in the positions *inter se* in which they would be if the transfer were also effected as against third parties upon the Effective Spin-off Date. In this event, Deutsche Telekom AG shall, in particular, furnish the relevant Asset for the term of the operation of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH's Fixed Line Network for long-term use or acquire beneficial ownership for T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH in another manner. Sentences 3 and 4 of Section 4.2 (a) shall apply *mutatis mutandis*. Sections 2.2 (b), 4.7 (e) and (f) shall remain unaffected.
- (d) Should the consent of a creditor, debtor, trustee, joint shareholder or other third party be necessary for transfer of certain Assets, or should a public law confirmation, adjustment, consent, approval or other public law legal act be required, Deutsche Telekom AG and T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall endeavor to procure same. Should the aforementioned approval or public law legal act not be or not have been granted, the provision under Section 4.2 (c) shall apply *mutatis mutandis* as between the companies.

4.3 General duties of cooperation

Deutsche Telekom AG and T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall render any and all declarations, issue any and all deeds and take any and all other measures and legal acts necessary or expedient in conjunction with the transfer of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities pursuant to Sections 4.1 and 4.2.

4.4 Assets that cannot be assigned to a single party (multi-use assets), retransfer obligation

- (a) If an Asset may only be partially attributed to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area and it is not expressly attributed to the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities in this Spin-off and Take-over Agreement, such Assets shall not be transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH. In this event, Deutsche Telekom AG shall furnish the relevant Asset for long-term use to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH in accordance with Section 4.8 (a) to (e) based on an agreement under the law of obligations (i.e., generally speaking, until economic consumption).
- (b) Should Assets, in particular, agreements, equity investments and memberships that are not intended to pass to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH pursuant to this Agreement be transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH for legal reasons, T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall transfer these back to Deutsche Telekom AG. Deutsche Telekom AG shall accept such transfer back. *Inter se*, the parties shall place themselves in the positions in which they would be if the transfer had not taken place upon the Execution Date. Section 2.2 (b) shall apply *mutatis mutandis*.
- (c) Sections 4.2 and 4.3 shall apply mutatis mutandis.

4.5 Creditor protection and internal settlement, indemnity

(a) If and to the extent that Deutsche Telekom AG or T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH have claims asserted against them by creditors based on the provisions of § 133 UmwG or other statutory or contractual provisions concerning liabilities or obligations or based on liability relationships that are attributable to the other respective entity in accordance with the provisions of this Spin-off and Take-over Agreement, then the other legal entity shall upon first request indemnify the legal entity against whom the claim is asserted against such liabilities, obligations and liability. (b) Any and all claims and rights of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH against Deutsche Telekom AG based on the quality or existence of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities being transferred by Deutsche Telekom AG in accordance with this Spin-off and Take-over Agreement, or individual parts thereof, are hereby excluded. Such exclusion shall relate to any and all rights and claims of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH of any kind and whatever the legal basis therefore and irrespective of whether these are known or unknown to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH, whether or not these are due and payable or unconditional, and whether these already exist today or are only created in the future.

4.6 Special aspects of easements and other rights recorded in the land register

- (a) Deutsche Telekom AG shall transfer to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH any and all limited personal easements and other rights recorded in the land register and covered by Section 3.4, provided such easements and other rights recorded in the land register are not already transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH upon recording of the Spin-off in the commercial register of Deutsche Telekom AG. T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall accept such transfer.
- (b) Deutsche Telekom AG and T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall place each other in the positions in which they would be if all limited personal easements and other rights recorded in the land register and covered by Section 3.4 had already passed to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH upon the Effective Spin-off Date. In particular, Deutsche Telekom AG shall grant T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH the right to use the limited personal easements and other rights recorded in the land register.
- (c) Should Deutsche Telekom AG or another company affiliated with it pursuant to §§ 15 et seq. of the Aktiengesetz (German Stock Corporation Act) also require the limited personal easements or the other rights recorded in the land register for securing, creation, use or development of its Assets or have promised use thereof to a third party, T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall upon request grant free of charge an assignable joint right of use under the law of obligations.
- (d) In addition, Deutsche Telekom AG shall assign to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH the claims to recording of a limited personal easement secured by way of a priority notice set forth in Annex 4.6 (d). T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall accept such assignment.

4.7 Special aspects regarding main distribution frames

- (a) If and to the extent that individual facilities of the main distribution frames constitute material components of real estate or a building of Deutsche Telekom AG within the meaning §§ 93, 94 of the German Civil Code (BGB), in particular, technical systems and machinery, telecommunications lines and exchanges (hereinafter referred to as "Technical Fixtures"), these shall be rededicated as ostensible components within the meaning of § 95 BGB subject to Section 4.7 (b). This shall transpire in order to transfer the Fixed Line Network as a whole for the reasons specified in Section 1.3 to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH, without the Technical Fixtures remaining with Deutsche Telekom AG and without having to transfer real estate and buildings to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH.
- (b) Deutsche Telekom AG and T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH hereby agree that:
 - the Technical Fixtures are only affixed to the real estate and placed in the buildings for a temporary purpose;
 - title in the Technical Fixtures shall be transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH upon recording of the Spin-off in the commercial register of Deutsche Telekom AG;

- (iii) T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH may use the Technical Fixtures at its discretion for the duration of operation of the Fixed Line Network on the real estate or in the buildings of Deutsche Telekom AG.
- (c) Section 4.7 (a) and (b) shall apply *mutatis mutandis* if Deutsche Telekom AG (for example, as beneficiary under a hereditary building right) is not the owner of the real property, but is the owner of the building in which the main distribution frame is located, or if Deutsche Telekom AG has leased the real property, in whole or in part.
- (d) Deutsche Telekom AG shall:
 - concerning real estate and buildings owned by Deutsche Telekom AG or in relation to which Deutsche Telekom AG holds a hereditary building right as set forth in Annex 4.7 (d) (i), upon or in which main distribution frames are located, create in favor of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH limited personal easements concerning the right to use such real estate and buildings for the operation of main distribution frames;
 - (ii) and shall do so with the contents as set forth in Annex 4.7 (d) (ii).
- (e) If and to the extent that Technical Fixtures located on real estate, real estate subject to hereditary building rights or in buildings of Deutsche Telekom AG (in each case including accessories) and that are supposed to be transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH pursuant to this Spin-off and Take-over Agreement are not already transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH upon recording of the Spin-off in the commercial register of Deutsche Telekom AG, then Section 4.2 (a), (b) and (d) shall apply subject to the proviso that these sections of the Fixed Line Network shall be transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH by way of singular succession without the associated real estate, hereditary building rights and buildings.
- (f) Should Technical Fixtures located on real estate or in buildings of Deutsche Telekom AG (in each case including accessories) that are supposed to be transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH pursuant to this Spin-off and Take-over Agreement not be transferable or be only transferable together with such real estate and buildings, Section 4.2 (c) shall apply, but only in relation to the Technical Fixtures.

4.8 Future intragroup delivery and service relationships

- (a) Unless there is already a different contractual basis for such future delivery and service relationships, Deutsche Telekom AG shall, directly on the basis of this Spin-off and Takeover Agreement, provide for T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH the deliveries and services rendered to date within Deutsche Telekom AG for the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area with economic effect upon the Effective Spin-off Date at the terms specified in Section 4.8 (c).
- (b) Unless there is already a different contractual basis for such future delivery and service relationships, T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall, directly on the basis of this Spin-off and Take-over Agreement, provide for Deutsche Telekom AG the deliveries and services rendered to date within Deutsche Telekom AG by the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area to other areas and units with economic effect upon the Effective Spin-off Date at the terms specified in Section 4.8 (c).

- (c) The provision of deliveries and services on the basis of Section 4.8 (a) and (b) shall take place at standard market conditions.
- (d) In particular, Deutsche Telekom AG shall provide to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH for longterm use (i.e. generally until economic consumption) those Assets that constitute a material operating basis for the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area as an operating business unit, but that are not used exclusively by the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area (socalled multi-use assets) to the extent necessary if these do not form part of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities and therefore are not transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH upon the Execution Date; Section 4.8 (c) shall apply *mutatis mutandis* to this extent.
- (e) Deutsche Telekom AG and T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall not be prevented by the provisions in Section 4.8 (a) to (d) from governing the delivery and service relationships by way of separate agreements in future.
- (f) Section 4.8 (a) to (e) shall also apply, in particular, for the grant of licenses, including the grant of licenses by T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH in software with regard to which the original right (*Stammrecht*) is included in the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities, and including the grant of licenses by Deutsche Telekom AG in software with regard to which the original right is not included in the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities.

5. CONSIDERATION

5.1 Grant of a share in T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH

- (a) In order to execute the Spin-off, T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall increase its registered share capital by EUR 980,000,000, namely, from EUR 520,000,000 to EUR 1,500,000,000 by creating a new share having a nominal value of EUR 980,000,000.
- (b) As consideration for the transfer of the Spin-off Assets and Liabilities, T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall grant Deutsche Telekom AG a new share having a nominal value of EUR 980,000,000.
- (c) The share shall be granted free of charge and shall bear dividend rights commencing January 1, 2010. Should the Effective Spin-off Date pursuant to Section 8.1 be postponed, the vesting of the dividend rights under the new share shall be postponed accordingly. The share shall be given an individual number in the shareholder list.
- (d) In accordance with Section 272 (2) No. 1 Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB -- German Commercial Code), the amount by which the carrying amount of the notional share in the chare capital granted is exceeded by the assets to be transferred from Deutsche Telekom AG to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH as a result of the Spin-off and the sum of liabilities to be transferred from Deutsche Telekom AG to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH as a result of the Spin-off and the liability to Deutsche Telekom AG recognized in accordance with Section 3.7 (g) as a result of the contractual undertaking to perform the obligation of another party shall be transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland's capital reserve.

5.2 Special rights and benefits

- (a) T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall grant no rights within the meaning of § 126 (1) No. 7 UmwG; nor are any measures within the meaning of this provision intended.
- (b) Apart from the facts notified below, no special benefits within the meaning of § 126 (1) No. 8 UmwG shall be granted:

- (i) Subject to a decision by the Supervisory Board of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH, it is planned to appoint the chairman of the "T-HOME Divisional Board of Management", a member of the Executive Board of Deutsche Telekom AG, Niek Jan van Damme (in addition to his membership of the Executive Board of Deutsche Telekom AG, which shall continue), to the management of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH effective October 1, 2009, of which he shall be the chairman.
- (ii) Subject to a decision by the Supervisory Board of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH, it is planned to reappoint the current members of the management of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH, Thomas Berlemann, Thomas Dannenfeldt, Dr. Christian P. Illek and Dr. Bruno Jacobfeuerborn, whose position as managing directors of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall terminate as agreed upon entry into effect of the Spin-off, to the management of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH following the entry into effect of the Spin-off.
- (iii) Mr. Albert Henn, member of the management of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH, has been appointed a member of the management of Telekom Shop Vertriebsgesellschaft mbH, with its registered offices in Bonn, effective July 1, 2009.

6. CONSEQUENCES OF THE SPIN-OFF FOR THE EMPLOYEES AND EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVES

6.1 General

- (a) The consequences of the Spin-off for the employees of the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area affected by the Spin-off shall be derived from §§ 131 (1), Nos. 1 and 3, 324 UmwG and § 613 a (1) and (4) to (6) BGB.
- (b) As a supplement to the legal consequences, the Letter of Intent dated February 26, 2009 entered into with the employee representatives on the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG regarding the employee representatives' support for the "Konzentrieren und gezielt wachsen" ("Focus, fix and grow") strategy (hereinafter referred to as the "LOI One Company"), including the addenda dated April 29, 2009, and August 27, 2009 form the basis for the implementation of and support for the measures to be taken. The LOI One Company creates secure framework conditions for the employees and the company for the impending restructuring.

6.2 Transfer of employment contracts

- (a) As at the Execution Date, any and all employment contracts attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area and existing at Deutsche Telekom AG at such time shall be transferred by operation of law to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH pursuant to §§ 613 a (1) sentence 1 BGB, 324 UmwG. T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall assume the employment contracts of the transferred employees together with all rights and duties pursuant to §§ 613 a (1) sentence 1, 324 UmwG. This means, in particular, that all periods of service spent or recognized at Deutsche Telekom AG shall be deemed periods of service at T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH. The parties assume that the employment contracts set forth in Annex 6.2 (a) are covered thereby.
- (b) Expectancies for benefits under the company occupational pension shall be continued unchanged, in particular, current periods of non-forfeitability shall not be interrupted.
- (c) The employees shall be notified of the transfer of their employment contract pursuant to § 613 a (5) BGB. They may object to the transfer of their employment relationship in writing pursuant to § 613 a (6) BGB within one month of receipt of such notification. In the event of

an objection, the employment relationship shall remain with Deutsche Telekom AG. However, any employee who files an objection must expect termination of his employment relationship for operational reasons due to a lack of opportunities to continue his employment.

6.3 Transfer of operational units and parts thereof

The following operational units shall be transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH:

 From the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area (not including the "Business Customers" ("DT GK") business unit; the latter is referred to in this Section 6 as "T-HOME DT GK"):

Head Office T-Home,

Wholesale Center,

Value-Added Services Center,

Information Technology Center,

HR, Organization and Environmental Affairs Center.

(ii) From the T-HOME DT GK area:

Sales & Service Management Northern District,

Sales & Service Management Northeastern District,

Sales & Service Management Western District,

Sales & Service Management Central District,

Sales & Service Management Southwestern District,

Sales & Service Management Southern District,

Central Unit Marketing & Product Management / Human Resources Management / Telecommunications Operations.

All operational units are created under the Collective Agreement on Organizational Allocation (*Zuordnungstarifvertrag*), as a result of which, in particular, independent operating units are each allocated to one of the aforementioned principal operations.

6.4 Collective agreements and works agreements

(a) During the Spin-off, the collective agreements of Deutsche Telekom AG shall be replaced pursuant to § 613 a (1) sentence 3 BGB for the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area by collective agreements of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH. According to the commitment made in the LOI One Company (C I 3), however, the transfer of operations shall be accompanied by conclusion of corresponding collective agreements. The objective of these collective agreements is harmonization of the different starting collective agreements and associated employment terms in order to support the personnel policy for a combination of the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area and T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH. It is intended that, at the same time, this shall implement the negotiation undertaking agreed during the 2008 round of wage negotiations of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH for the introduction of a new salary system with ver.di. The adjustment and harmonization of the starting collective agreements shall take place in compliance with the job protection provisions agreed in the LOI One Company. In this respect, there shall be no shortfall of the total current wage levels. The adjustments or harmonizations shall be effected at no additional cost. If provisions under collective agreements apply to employees who are not bound by collective agreements due to a reference clause under labor law, the reference made in such an employment agreement to the respective collective agreements shall determine which collective agreements apply.

(b) The current works agreements in the operations of the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area shall be transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH subject to the proviso that the operation's identity is maintained, non-negotiability effect under collective agreements vests by virtue of §§ 77 (3), 87 (1) of the *Betriebsverfassungsgesetz* (Works Council Constitution Act) (hereinafter referred to as "BetrVG") and there is no replacement by virtue of existing collective provisions in the receiving operations. The central works agreements applicable for the operations of the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area shall continue to apply as works agreements subject to the provisos specified in sentence 1. The Spin-off shall not affect the application of group works agreements. Should the identity of the operation existing prior to the Spin-off end as a result of integration into existing operations or new formation of operations, the rights and obligations shall continue to apply to specific individuals as long as they are not replaced by a current or newly agreed works agreement in the receiving operation.

6.5 Liability

T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall be liable for any and all obligations – including outstanding obligations – deriving from the transferred employment contracts. In addition to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH, Deutsche Telekom AG shall be liable as joint and several debtor for liabilities created prior to the Execution Date if the liabilities fall due prior to the expiry of five years following the Execution Date resulting in the confirmation of claims against Deutsche Telekom AG in a manner specified in § 197 (1) Nos. 3 to 5 BGB (i.e.: (a) claims confirmed in a final and binding judgment, (b) claims under enforceable settlements or enforceable deeds or (c) claims that have become enforceable as a result of a finding in insolvency proceedings) or if an judicial or official enforcement measure or is applied for. The period prior to the Spin-off Date during which pension obligations have arisen on the basis of the provisions of the *Betriebsrentengesetz* (German Company Pension Act) shall, according to the previous sentence, be ten years.

6.6 Notice of termination and protection against compulsory redundancies laid down in the collective agreement

- (a) Notice of termination by the employer due to the Spin-off is impermissible pursuant to §§ 613 a (4) BGB, 324 UmwG. Notice of termination by the employer for other grounds shall remain possible. According to § 323 UmwG, the position of the employees under the law on termination shall not deteriorate due to the Spin-off for a period of two years from the Execution Date.
- (b) The employees moving to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall retain the termination waiver under the collective agreement of Deutsche Telekom AG within T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH. In addition, a termination waiver has been agreed for T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH until December 31, 2010 as part of a collective agreement.

6.7 Planned measures

As part of the Spin-off, it is planned to restructure the operations set forth in Section 6.3 and the operations of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH. Should previous operational structures be lost during this process, resulting in a loss of seats on the Works Council, the warranties made in the LOI One Company shall apply. Negotiations to balance interests shall be held with the Central Works Council of Deutsche Telekom AG concerning the creation of new business structures and the transfer of the employees to the newly formed operations.

It is planned to create an integrated sales & service unit for the German fixed network and mobile communications business shortly following the entry of the Spin-off. This is to be achieved, *inter alia*, by transferring the necessary sales & service management units (approx. 720 full-time equivalents) from Deutsche Telekom Kundenservice GmbH to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH. Furthermore, it is intended to transfer the present T-HOME DT GK unit from T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH to Deutsche Telekom Kundenservice GmbH following the Spin-off. Prerequisite for the transfer into Deutsche Telekom Kundenservice GmbH is that the necessary IT and process-related measures will have also been taken both for the AGB and the individualized business for business customers at this point in time. The units are to be transferred immediately after these requirements have been met. The necessary changes for this will be reviewed on a quarterly basis. The review deadline for implementation and the fulfillment of the transfer requirements shall be June 30, 2011.

6.8 Employee representatives

- (a) The office and seats of the members of the Central Works Council (GBR) of the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area and of the Central Works Council of T-Home Deutsche Telekom GK shall terminate upon the Execution Date.
- (b) The Works Council members elected in the businesses of the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area shall continue to hold their seats upon the Spin-off, provided that the structure of the respective operation remains unchanged. Should there be changes to the operational structure, the provisions under works council constitution law shall apply, in particular, those on transitional seats pursuant to § 21 a BetrVG. Should seats on the Works Council lapse as a result, the job protection provisions agreed in the LOI One Company (C II) shall apply.
- (c) The Group works agreement concerning the formation and composition of the Group Works Council (hereinafter referred to as "KBR") within the Deutsche Telekom Group as amended per June 22, 2007 shall be reviewed and any necessary adjustments shall be negotiated with the KBR. Representation of all employees of the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area and of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH by the KBR shall continue to be guaranteed.
- (d) If necessary to secure an effective operational co-determination structure, negotiations shall be conducted with ver.di concerning adjustment of the current operational codetermination structure.
- (e) The Spin-off shall not result in any changes in Deutsche Telekom AG's Supervisory Board. Should the employees whose employment relationship is being transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH include a member of the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG, such individual's position on the Supervisory Board shall remain unaffected. The employees transferred to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall in the future continue to have active and passive voting rights as previously in the election of employee representatives on the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Telekom AG.

- (f) The Supervisory Board of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall comprise 20 members on the basis of the expected number of staff once the Spin-off has become effective.
- (g) The provisions concerning the European Works Council (EBR) formed in Deutsche Telekom by virtue of the agreement dated April 21, 2004 shall remain unaffected by the Spin-off.

7. CIVIL SERVANT EMPLOYMENT RELATIONSHIPS

7.1 Consequences of the Spin-off for civil servants

- (a) In addition to the employment contracts, there are still approximately 8,992 service relationships with civil servants attributable to the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area. These civil servants belong to Deutsche Telekom AG under civil service law. Due to civil service law reasons, there are special provisions to this extent; the service relationship is not transferred pursuant to § 613 a BGB. Of these civil servants, 5,132 are civil servants on leave within the meaning of § 4 (3) of the *Postpersonalrechtsgesetz* (Act Concerning the Legal Provisions for the Former Deutsche Bundespost Staff) (so-called civil servants on temporary leave from their civil servant status).
- (b) The civil servants working in the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area shall be offered leave pursuant to § 13 of the Special Leave Regulation (Sonderurlaubsverordnung) at the date of the change to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH or they shall be assigned corresponding work in accordance with § 4 (4) of the Act Concerning the Legal Provisions for the Former Deutsche Bundespost Staff based on an urgent operational and/or human resources interest on the part of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH. If leave is granted, the civil servant employment relationship with Deutsche Telekom AG shall be suspended and the civil servant shall enter an employment relationship with T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH. In the event of assignment, the civil servant shall remain subject to Deutsche Telekom AG under civil service law and shall receive his salary payments from Deutsche Telekom AG, but T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall be authorized to issue instructions if work within the company makes this necessary.
- (c) T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH undertakes to make all active civil servants and all those on temporary leave from civil servant status (or on parental leave and leave without pay) from the newly defined T-HOME Business Area an offer to work under the terms of an employment contract or to employ them by way of assignment. If civil servants working in the Newly Defined T-HOME Business Area are not given leave to T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH, Deutsche Telekom AG shall assign them corresponding work at T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH within the framework of § 4 (4) of the Act Concerning the Legal Provisions for the Former Deutsche Bundespost Staff.
- (d) T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH agrees to also assume civil servants by way of assignment for a period of no less than five years. The other modalities of the assignment such as settlement and payment procedures shall remain subject to a separate agreement.

7.2 Regulations governing temporary leave and assignment

- (a) T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH agrees to
 - (i) pay Deutsche Telekom AG for all civil servants who are on leave from there in order to perform paid work for T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH the pension contribution of currently 33% of the civil servant's fictitious public service pension-qualifying remuneration including a (*pro rata*) special payment in the amount applicable for Deutsche Telekom AG's civil servants (currently 30% of civil servant's fictitious

public service pension-qualifying remuneration including a *pro rata* special payment, payment plus 3% settlement amount by the Federal Pension Service for Post and Telecommunications = 33% total pursuant to the administrative provision under § 6 of the *Beamtenversorgungsgesetz* (Civil Servant Pension Act);

- to render a global take-over declaration stating that in the event of departure of the civil servant without a pension, the payment of retrospective insurance contributions for the period of temporary leave and resulting additional expenses shall be paid;
- to take out civil servant allowance replacement insurance to cover the allowance entitlements of the civil servants on leave to date and to grant the benefits in line with such allowances according to civil servant law principles;

and

- (iv) in order to secure an exemption from social insurance, to grant the civil servants on leave an indefinite entitlement to continued payment of salary in the event of illness in the percentage applicable for measuring the base salary to be continued to be paid in the event of service incapacity of a Federal civil servant.
- (b) For civil servants who perform work at T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH by way of assignment, T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH agrees to reimburse to Deutsche Telekom AG relevant costs (gross salaries plus 45.34%). The other modalities of the assignment such as settlement and payment procedures shall remain subject to a separate agreement.

8. MISCELLANEOUS

8.1 Change of Effective Date

Should the Spin-off not have been recorded in the commercial register of Deutsche Telekom AG by December 31, 2010, the commencement of January 1, 2011 shall be deemed the Effective Spin-off Date in deviation from Section 2.2 (b). In this event, the Spin-off shall be based on the balance sheet of Deutsche Telekom AG to be prepared per December 31, 2010 as the Closing Balance Sheet. Should the recording be further delayed beyond December 31 of the following year, the Effective Spin-off Date and the effective date of the Closing Balance Sheet shall each be postponed by one year in accordance with the foregoing provisions. The same shall apply for the effective transfer date for tax purposes within the meaning of Section 2.2 (c). Should reference be made in this Spin-off Agreement to Section 2.2 (b), this Section 8.1 shall be taken into account.

8.2 Applicable law, forum

- (a) This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the Federal Republic of Germany.
- (b) The place of jurisdiction shall be Bonn.

8.3 Costs and taxes

(a) T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH and Deutsche Telekom AG shall each bear 50% of the costs resulting from conclusion of this Spin-off and Take-over Agreement and its implementation (including costs for preparation of this Spin-off and Take-over Agreement, in particular, consulting and notaries' costs, the auditor services performed in conjunction with the Spinoff and Take-over and the advance ruling in this respect) as well as any taxes incurred during performance thereof. (b) The costs of the capital increase incurred by T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH shall be borne by T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH. Each party shall bear its own costs for the respective shareholders' meeting and costs for filing for and recording in the commercial register.

8.4 Severability clause

Should one or more provisions of this Spin-off and Take-over Agreement be or become invalid or unenforceable or not qualify for recording in the commercial register, the remaining provisions shall remain unaffected. The same shall apply if a provision has been omitted from this Agreement. Any invalid or unenforceable provision or provision not qualifying for recording in the commercial register shall be deemed replaced by a provision that lawfully most closely reflects that which the parties intended or would have intended upon conclusion of this Spin-off and Take-over Agreement had they considered the issue. The same shall apply should provisions have been omitted herefrom.

8.5 Entry into effect, filing for recording in the commercial register

- (a) This Agreement shall be valid only if approved by the General Shareholders' Meeting of Deutsche Telekom AG and the shareholders' meeting of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH. Moreover, the Spin-off shall be valid only if recorded in the commercial register of Deutsche Telekom AG. This may only take place following recording in the commercial register of T-Mobile Deutschland GmbH.
- (b) Filing for recording in the commercial register of Deutsche Telekom AG may only take place after December 31, 2009 and also only following presentation of the Closing Balance Sheet necessary for filing.

8.6 Annexes

The Annexes to this Agreement form an integral component hereof.

This written record

was read aloud to the Parties Appearing by the Notary Public, approved by the Parties Appearing, and personally signed by them and by the Notary Public as follows: